IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT

JOHN W. MCWILLIAMS

Plaintiff and Appellant,

SEP 2 0 2012

V.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

CITY OF LONG BEACH, Defendant and Respondent.

CITY OF LONG BEACH'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Of an Unpublished Decision of the Second Appellate District of the Court of Appeal

Case No. B20083 I

Reversing a Judgment of the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Los Angeles, Case No. BC361469
Honorable Anthony J. Mohr, Presiding

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Government Code § 905 (a) excepts "claims under ... [a] statute prescribing procedures for the refund ... of any tax, assessment fee or charge" from the scope of the Government Claims Act.¹ Did the Legislature use "statute" in this section to exclude local legislation and to require claims for refunds of local taxes, assessments, fees and charges to be governed by the Government Claims Act?
- 2. If so, does § 905 (a) violate the home rule power to tax conferred on charter cities by Article XI, §§ 3, 5 and on all cities and counties by Article XI, § 7 of the California Constitution?²
- 3. Does the second sentence of California Constitution, Article XIII, § 32, which requires express legislative authorization for tax refunds, apply to local government?

INTRODUCTION

Until County of Los Angeles v. Superior Court (Oronoz) (2008) 159 Cal.App.4th 353 (hereinafter, "Oronoz"), no case questioned the power of local governments, acting by ordinance or city charter, to control the

¹ Government Code § 810 et seq.

²All unspecified section references in this brief are to the California Government Code. Unspecified references to articles and sections of articles are to the California Constitution.

manner by which claims for refunds of taxes, fees and assessments³ may be made. The strong public policy in favor of predictable funding for essential government services reflected in Article XIII, § 32 of the California Constitution explains this long-standing rule. Moreover, the Government Claims Act procedures designed for ordinary tort and contract claims are not well suited to tax refund claims, as evidenced by the Legislature's 1959 decision to exempt such claims from the Act via what is now Government Code § 905, subd. (a). This is especially true for taxes — like those in issue here — as to which a private tax collector rather than the tax payer is obligated to remit the tax to the levying government, and a risk of double recovery therefore arises.

Oronoz disparaged a long line of decisions reflecting the earlier rule. It was apparently influenced by the equities of a case in which Los Angeles County refused to seek voter approval of its utility tax for more than a decade after this Court made clear in Santa Clara County Local Transportation Authority v. Guardino (1995) 11 Cal.4th 220 and Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Ass'n v. City of La Habra (2001) 25 Cal.4th 809 (hereinafter, "HJTA v. La Habra") that it was obliged to do so. The very appellate panel that

³ For convenience, this brief will refer to claims for refunds of taxes, assessments and fees as "tax refund claims" as the principles in issue apply equally to all local government revenues and the revenue measure in issue here is a tax.

decided *Oronoz* promptly repudiated it,⁴ leading to this Court's 2011 decision in that case.

Of course, *Ardon v. City of Los Angeles* (2011) 52 Cal.4th 241 (hereinafter, "*Ardon*") expressly reserved whether local claiming ordinances may apply to tax refund claims. Thus, this case presents an opportunity to restore the law to its long-standing posture predating *Oronoz* and to eliminate ambiguity as to the power of local governments to fashion sensible rules governing claims for refund of local taxes that the Legislature has never provided, is ill-suited to provide, and which it intended to supplement the general rules of the Government Claims Act. To do otherwise is to read legislative silence that reflects delegation to local government as legislative intention to apply the usual Government Claims Act rules to tax refund claims. Such a reading works a sea change in California's local finance law and ignores the contrary legislative intent plainly demonstrated by the history of the Act.

Reexamination of the Eisenhower-era legislative history of Government Code § 905, subd. (a) will allow this Court to avoid difficult constitutional questions that otherwise arise. That history plainly shows the intent of the Legislature in 1959, when the Act was first adopted, and

⁴ Ardon v. City of Los Angeles (2009) 174 Cal.App.4th 369, review granted and opinion superseded, 216 P.3d 522 (Cal. 2009) and rev'd, 52 Cal. 4th 241 (2011). The City cites the Court of Appeal's decision in Ardon, overtaken by this Court's grant of review, pursuant to Rule 8.1115, subd. (b)(1) to provide the procedural history of this dispute.

again in 1963, when the relevant statutes took their current form, to exempt local tax claims.

Should the Court determine to reach those constitutional questions, however, this brief demonstrates that the Legislature may not subject local tax refund claims to the Government Claims Act's common procedures for tort and contract claims without offending the power reserved to charter cities by Article XI, §§ 3 and 5. Moreover, the second sentence of Article XIII, § 32, unlike the first, extends to local governments and protects the public interest in local fiscal predictability and integrity and the separation of powers between the judicial and political branches by requiring express legislative authorization for refunds of local taxes.

For all these reasons, the City of Long Beach (the "City") respectfully urges this Court to affirm the trial court's grant of demurrer in this case, disavow *Oronoz*, and in light of the legislative history, reaffirm the many cases concluding that Government Code § 905, subd. (a) preserves local government power to establish reasonable procedures for refunds of taxes, and that such procedures may bar class actions.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

I. The City's Telephone Users Tax and Appellant's Claim

Appellant John W. McWilliams ("Appellant" or "McWilliams") filed the complaint here on behalf of himself and a purported class alleging matters that have yet to be reached by any court — this appeal arises from a successful demurrer. McWilliams' allegations involve the effect of the

changing interpretation of the federal excise tax (FET) on telephony on local agencies' interpretation of their own telephone taxes. In particular, Appellant objects to the manner in which the City has calculated its telephone users tax (TUT), and claims that changes in the interpretation of the FET require a reduction in the City's TUT tax base because the City's ordinance makes reference to the FET in defining that base. However, since the TUT's inception, the City has consistently applied it to calls priced on the basis of duration alone, as well as those based on duration and the distance between the telephones served by a call. Indeed, until July 2006, the federal government construed the FET in the same manner and had done so since at least a 1979 Internal Revenue Service (IRS) ruling on which the City relied in enacting its tax. That 1979 IRS ruling remained undisturbed for nearly 30 years despite transformative changes in the telecommunications industry. (See Revenue Ruling 79-404, 1979-2 C.B. 382, MJN⁵ Exh. A.) Appellant contends that, when the IRS changed its position with respect to the FET in July 2006 via Notice 2006-50 (MJN Exh. B), the City was required to change its longstanding interpretation of its TUT ordinance as well.6

⁵ "MJN" refers to the City's Motion for Judicial Notice In Support of its Opening Brief on the Merits, filed concurrently with this brief.

⁶ Appellant maintains this position despite that the IRS issued a subsequent notice clarifying that Notice 2006-50 was not intended to affect the power of state and local governments to impose or collect telecommunication taxes under their respective laws. (See IRS Notice 2007-

After Notice 2006-50 issued, the City Council acted by ordinance to clarify that the TUT's reference to the FET meant that tax as the IRS construed it when the City first adopted that reference and indeed as the IRS construed it from at least 1979 until 2006. The Council stated that the IRS' narrowing of the federal tax did not reflect the City's intent with respect to its own tax. Appellant sued, claiming the City's clarification was a tax "increase" requiring voter approval under Proposition 218, Article XIII C, § 2, subd. (b).

The City respectfully submits that it has persuasive arguments on the merits in this dispute, which have yet to be considered by any court. Thus, any attempt by Appellant to characterize its challenge to the trial court's procedural rulings as an inevitable victory on the merits should be regarded, at a minimum, as premature.

II. Trial Court Proceedings

Appellant filed his complaint in November 2006, asserting these causes of action:

- (1) declaratory and injunctive relief to prevent collection of the TUT;
- (2) declaratory relief regarding the City's ordinance clarifying the intent of the local tax's reference to the FET;
- (3) money had and received;
- (4) unjust enrichment;⁷

11, MJN Exh. C at § 10.)

⁷ Such common law claims as the third and fourth listed here, of

- (5) violation of due process, and
- (6) a writ claim. (CT, 18-21.)8

The complaint did not allege the individual members of the asserted class had filed administrative claims and relied only upon McWilliams' own claim, which purported to speak for a class. (CT 15 at ¶ 65; CT 40–42.)

This case was one of three involving nearly identical complaints and the same counsel. The others were *Ardon* and *Granados v. County of Los Angeles* (hereinafter, "*Granados*").⁹ Plaintiffs filed a notice of related cases and the three suits were assigned to Judge Mohr. These three jurisdictions were sued apparently because they represent some 40% of the telecommunications market in California.

The City demurred to the *McWilliams* complaint, arguing — among other things — that Long Beach Municipal Code § 3.68.160 and § 3.48.060 disallow class claims. (CT 73; see also MJN Exhs. G and F.) Judge Mohr sustained the demurrer. (CT 113.) McWilliams declined to amend his complaint and appealed. (CT 150, 158.)

course, do not lie against governments in California. (Cal. Gov. Code § 815, subd. (a).)

⁸ CT refers to the Clerk's Transcript of the trial court action.

⁹ Cal. Ct. App., Mar. 28, 2012, B200812. The City cites the Court of Appeal's decision in *Granados*, pursuant to Rule 8.1115, subd. (b)(1) to provide procedural history and context, not substantive argument.

III. Court of Appeal Proceedings

McWilliams filed his notice of appeal July 19, 2007. In August 2008, the Court of Appeal stayed the appeal pending its decision of *Ardon*. Thus, when the Court of Appeal issued its published opinion in *Ardon* in May 2009 — questioning its earlier decision in *Oronoz*¹⁰ — it had both *Granados* and the instant case before it. This Court, of course, granted review of

"In view of the confusion in this area, it would be helpful for the Supreme Court to grant review in this case in order to resolve the conflict between the *Oronoz* decision and the majority opinion herein.

Review is further warranted because the question presented, i.e., whether Government Code section 910 authorizes a class claim for tax refunds, is a major statewide issue with serious implications for the public fisc.

Currently, this Division alone has at least two other appeals involving the same issue."

Ardon v. City of Los Angeles, 94 Cal. Rptr. 3d 245, 257–58 (2009) review granted and opinion superseded, 216 P.3d 522 (Cal. 2009) and rev'd, 52 Cal.4th 241 (2011). Again, the City cites the Court of Appeal's decision in Ardon pursuant to Rule 8.1115, subd. (b)(1) to provide the procedural history of this dispute.

¹⁰ Justice Joan Dempsey Klein was the swing vote as between *Oronoz* and *Ardon* and in her concurring opinion in the latter case stated:

*Ardon.*¹¹ *McWilliams* and *Granados* remained stayed by the Court of Appeal pending decision in *Ardon*.

This Court's 2011 ruling in *Ardon* holds that § 910 permits class claims for tax refunds when that section supplies the rule of decision. This Court explained that the rule of *Woosley v. State of California* (1992) 3 Cal.4th 758, 789 — that class claims for tax refunds require express legislative authorization — "requires that a court analyze the claims statutes before it to determine whether the Legislature intended to allow class claims under those statutes." (52 Cal.4th at 251.) Like *Woosley, Ardon* confirms that a court must analyze applicable tax refund procedures — in this case, the City's municipal ordinances — to determine whether class claims are permitted.

Significantly, *Ardon* does not hold that § 910 governs all claims for tax refunds against local governments or that § 910 preempts local claiming requirements. This Court was careful to reserve that issue, which was not before it. ¹² Instead, this Court concluded that class claims are allowed by § 910 "in the absence of a specific tax refund procedure set forth in an applicable governing claims statute." (*Ardon*, 52 Cal.4th 241, 251.)

¹¹ *Id*.

¹² Although the City of Los Angeles asserted that certain of its ordinances constituted applicable claiming requirements, the Court of Appeal concluded otherwise and the City did not pursue the issue before this Court. (*Ardon*, 52 Cal.App.4th at 246, fn.2.)

Specifically, *Ardon* did not hold that local claiming ordinances are not "statutes" for purposes of § 905, subd. (a)'s exclusion from the Government Claims Act of "[c]laims under the Revenue and Taxation Code or other **statute**" prescribing refund procedures for taxes, fees or assessments. (Emphasis supplied.) Indeed, *Ardon* twice references local claiming ordinances. (*Ardon*, 54 Cal.4th at 250 ["[the foregoing] cases all considered statutes **or municipal ordinances** enacted to provide specific procedures for filing tax claims against governmental entities"] and 251 ["the claim here did not involve any applicable **municipal code** or statute governing claims for refunds"]) (emphases supplied.)

Ardon also reserved the question whether the second sentence of Article XIII, § 32 applies to local governments. (Ardon, supra, 54 Cal.4th 241, 252.) This Court concluded that § 910 permits class claims for tax refunds in the absence of local claiming requirements whether or not the second sentence of Article XIII, § 32 applies to local governments.

These reserved questions are now before this Court.

IV. This Court's Grant of Review

After this Court decided *Ardon* on July 25, 2011, the Court of Appeal asked the *McWilliams* and *Granados* parties to submit supplemental briefing on the impact of that decision on those cases. *Granados*, like *Ardon*, involved no local claiming ordinance and the parties essentially agreed to remand to the trial court. Long Beach, however, asserted its local ordinances. In an unpublished March 28, 2011 decision, the Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's dismissal of the first four causes of action

and affirmed its dismissal of the two remaining, concluding the due process and writ claims were mooted by the availability of refund claims. The Court further concluded that the City "is not authorized under the Government Claims Act to establish its own claims procedure for TUT refunds." (Opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal, Division Three, filed March 28, 2012 at p. 2) (hereinafter, "Opinion.") The Court reasoned that a city ordinance is not a "statute" within the meaning of Government Code § 811.8. On that basis, it concluded that city ordinances governing the refund of local taxes do not fall within § 905, subd. (a)'s exception to the Government Claims Act, which therefore preempts local claiming requirements in the context of claims for refunds of taxes, fees and assessments. (Opinion at pp. 7–12.) Although this decision rejected Batt v. City & County of San Francisco (2007) 155 Cal. App. 4th 65 and the long line of authority it represents, it did not designate its decision for publication as Rule 8.1105, subd. (c) of the California Rules of Court would seem to require.

In April 2012, the City petitioned for review of the questions stated above. In July 2012, this Court granted that petition.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

On appeal from an order of dismissal after an order sustaining a demurrer, review is *de novo*; a reviewing court exercises its independent judgment whether the complaint states a cause of action as a matter of law. (*Stearn v. County of San Bernardino* (2009) 170 Cal.App.4th 434, 439.) Of course, a reviewing court treats a demurrer as admitting all material facts

properly pleaded. (*Blank v. Kirwan* (1985) 39 Cal.3d 311, 318.) The reviewing court does not, however, assume the truth of contentions, deductions, or conclusions of law. (*Id.*) A court may also consider matters which may be judicially noticed. (*Id.*, quoting *Serrano v. Priest* (1971) 5 Cal.3d 584, 591.)

LEGAL DISCUSSION

I. Long Beach's Ordinances Do Not Permit Class Claims for Tax Refunds

The Long Beach Municipal Code ("LBMC") prescribes "procedures for the refund, rebate, exemption ... or adjustment of [a] tax, assessment, fee, or charge," and claims for money or damages against the City related to taxes controlled by those ordinances are therefore exempt from the claiming requirements of the Government Claims Act. (See Cal. Gov. Code § 905, subd. (a).)

A. LBMC Section 3.68.160 Does Not Permit Class Claims

LBMC § 3.68.160, a provision of the City Code's Utility Users Tax chapter, governs claims for refunds of telephone and other utility taxes:

- A. Whenever the amount of **any** tax has been overpaid or paid more than once or has been erroneously or illegally collected or received by the city clerk or city treasurer-city tax collector under this chapter [entitled "Utility Users Tax"], it may be refunded as provided in this section.
- B. A service supplier may claim a refund or take as credit against taxes collected and remitted the amount overpaid, paid more than once, or erroneously or illegally

collected or received, when it is established in a manner prescribed by the city treasurer-city tax collector that the service user from whom the tax has been collected did not owe the tax; provided, however, that neither a refund nor a credit shall be allowed unless the amount of the tax so collected has either been refunded to the service user or credited to charges subsequently payable by the service user to the person required to collect and remit.

C. No refund shall be paid under the provisions of this section unless **the claimant** established his or her right thereto by written records showing entitlement thereto.

D. No refund shall be paid under the provisions of this section unless the claimant has submitted a claim pursuant to this section.

(CT 73; see also MJN Exh. G) (emphases supplied.)

Thus, the City's controlling ordinance says nothing about class claims and cannot be construed to allow them. Rather, it is clear that "the claimant" must establish "his or her right [to a refund] by written records" (LBMC § 3.68.160(C)) and that "[n]o refund shall be paid under the provisions of this section unless the claimant has submitted a claim pursuant to this section." (LBMC § 3.68.160(D)) (emphasis supplied.) No reference is made to a class or representative claim. Thus, the City's controlling ordinance does not authorize class claims for refunds of utility users taxes, including telephone taxes.

Appellant attempts to avoid the City's ordinance altogether, claiming subdivision (B) limits the refund authorized by § 3.68.160 to service suppliers, creating a void as to telephone customers which the Government Claims Act (or due process) must fill. This wishful reading

completely ignores subdivisions (A), (C) and (D) of § 3.68.160. While subdivision (B) refers to the defined term "service supplier," subdivision (A) allows "any tax" to be refunded "as provided in this section." (Emphases supplied.) Subdivisions (C) and (D) explain what "a claimant" must do to be "refunded as provided in this section." In other words, to submit a refund claim under § 3.68.160, Appellant need only submit a claim with written records establishing his right to a refund pursuant to subdivisions (C) and (D). That subdivision (B) refers only to service suppliers does not nullify the remaining subdivisions of § 3.68.160.¹³

B. Appellant Fares No Better Under the City's General Claiming Ordinances

Even were LBMC § 3.68.160 limited to service suppliers, LBMC §§ 3.48.060 and 3.48.070 — sections of the general "Claims and Refunds"

¹³ Section 1.08.010 of the LBMC provides general provisions and definitions that "shall govern the construction" of the LBMC. The LBMC's provisions "are to be construed with a view to effect its objects and to promote justice." (LBMC § 1.08.010, MJN Exh. D.) The City's interpretation of § 3.68.160 — namely, that it provides both a general refund claiming process under subdivisions (A), (C) and (D) for individual refunds and a particular procedure for service supplier refunds under subdivision (B) — effects the objects of the refund section and promotes justice by ensuring that all parties subject to the City's telephone tax have a refund remedy. Indeed, McWilliams argues the absence of a refund claim under his contorted reading of § 3.68.160 violates federal due process.

chapter of the "Revenue and Finance" title of the City Code — would apply. The former authorizes refunds:

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