### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JOHN W. McWILLIAMS, on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated, Plaintiff and Appellant,

SUPREME COURT
FILED

vs.

CITY OF LONG BEACH Defendant and Respondent.

OCT 29 2012

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

After A Decision By The Court Of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Three Case No. B200831 DepvtyCRC 8.25(b)

Superior Court for the County of Los Angeles Hon. Anthony J. Mohr, Judge Trial Court Case No. BC361469

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

#### INTRODUCTION

As in Ardon v. City of Los Angeles (2011) 52 Cal.4th 241 [128 Cal.Rptr.3d 283, 255 P.3d 958] (Ardon), Plaintiff's Class Action Complaint For Declaratory, Injunctive, Monetary and Other Relief ("Complaint") alleges that a local governmental entity, here the City of Long Beach (the "City"), has improperly required telephone companies to collect and remit taxes from telephone users on long distance and bundled telephone services where calls were not charged by both elapsed time and distance and which were, therefore, not subject to taxation under the express terms of the City code.

Plaintiff McWilliams's class claim for a tax refund from the City is governed by and permissible under the Government Claims Act, Cal. Gov. Code § 810, et seq. (the "GCA") rather than the local ordinances proffered by the City here. Therefore, this Court's unanimous *Ardon* decision is dispositive of this appeal and requires that this Court affirm the Court of Appeal's unanimous reversal of the trial court's dismissal of Plaintiff's claims and remand for further proceedings, as discussed in detail below.<sup>1</sup>

Section 910<sup>2</sup> clearly and expressly applies to all claims for money or damages against local governmental entities, including the City, unless section 905 excepts such claims from section 910's coverage. (§ 905.) However, subdivision (a) of section 905 (hereinafter section 905(a)), the only ostensibly applicable subdivision, exempts only those tax refund claims governed by "[c]laims under the Revenue and Taxation Code or

The Second Appellate District, Division Three (Kitching, J., with Klein, P.J. and Croskey, J. concurring), in an unpublished opinion filed on March 28, 2012 (Case No. B200831) (the "Opinion"), from which a Petition for Rehearing was denied April 12, 2012, unanimously reversed in pertinent part the trial court's order granting the City of Long Beach's demurrer to Plaintiff's Complaint and dismissing the case.

Unless otherwise stated, all section references are to the Government Code.

other statute...." The term "statute", as used in section 905(a), is defined by section 811.8 to include *only* acts adopted by "the Legislature of this State or by the Congress of the United States, or a statewide initiative act." The City's municipal ordinances do not fall within this definition and, therefore, are inapplicable to McWilliams's claim. This conclusion is supported by the holding in *County of Los Angeles v. Superior Ct. of Los Angeles County* (2008) 159 Cal.App.4th 353, 361 [71 Cal.Rptr.3d 485] (*Oronoz*) and also the analysis in *Volkswagen Pacific*, *Inc. v. City of Los Angeles* (1972) 7 Cal.3d 48, 62 [101 Cal.Rptr. 869, 496 P.2d 1237] (*Volkswagen Pacific*), the only other courts to have analyzed section 811.8 as applied to section 905(a).<sup>3</sup> *Batt v. City and County of San Francisco* (2007) 155 Cal.App.4th 65 [65 Cal.Rptr.3d 716] (*Batt*), the opinion upon which the City wholly relies, failed to even mention, much less analyze section 811.8. As a result, *Batt* was wrongly decided.

The statutory language of the Government Code is so plain and clear that the City's attempt to demonstrate that the word "statute" in section 905(a) does not mean "statute" as it is *explicitly* defined in section 811.8 is futile. When statutory language is clear and unambiguous, there is no need for statutory construction or resort to other indicia of legislative intent, such as legislative history. (*California Fed. Savings & Loan Assn. v. City of Los Angeles* (1995) 11 Cal.4th 342, 349 [45 Cal.Rptr.2d 279, 902 P.2d 297] (*Cal. Fed.*).)

Even if examination of the legislative history of section 905(a) were appropriate, the City's Opening Brief on the Merits ("Brief") completely misstates that history and

The City cites to the appellate decision in Ardon as support for its claim that Oronoz was repudiated by "the very appellate panel that decided [it] ... leading to this Court's 2011 decision in that case." (Brief at p. 3, fn. 4 [citing Ardon v. City of Los Angeles (2009) 174 Cal.App.4th 369, review granted and opinion superseded, 216 P.3d 522 (2009) and rev'd, 52 Cal.4th 241 (2011)].) The City incorrectly implies that the Ardon and Oronoz panels were identical, apparently hoping to make the point that the Oronoz panel had reversed itself. More important are the facts that the appellate panel in Ardon was unanimously reversed by this Court and that the Ardon appellate panel, which the City claims "repudiated" Oronoz, actually is identical to that which issued the appellate decision in this action that reaffirmed Oronoz.

rests wholly on the erroneous assumption that "[i]n 1959 the Law Revision Commission recommended, and the Legislature adopted, § 905, subd. (a) to exclude tax refund claims...." (Brief at p. 52; see also *id.* at p. 19). As recognized by this Court in *Ardon*, this is a factual mistake.

The Ardon opinion noted that, although the Law Revision Commission ("LRC") had proposed that the uniform procedures prescribed in the GCA would not apply to "[c]laims under the Revenue and Taxation Code or other provisions of law prescribing procedures for the refund ... of any tax," the Legislature "specifically rejected" that proposed language in enacting the GCA. (Ardon, supra, 52 Cal.4th at p. 247, emphasis added.) Instead, the Legislature rewrote the proposed language in section 905(a) (which was at that time numbered 703, subdivision (a)) to exclude from the GCA only those "[c]laims under the Revenue and Taxation Code or other statute prescribing procedures for the refund ... of any tax...." (Ibid., emphasis added.) Therefore, the contrary language in Pasadena Hotel Development Venture v. City of Pasadena (1981) 119 Cal.App.3d 412, 415, fn. 3 [174 Cal.Rptr. 52] (Pasadena Hotel) and in Batt, supra, 155 Cal.App.4th at p. 79, has been implicitly overruled by Ardon, and the City's repeated citations to Pasadena Hotel and Batt in support of its claims that the GCA was enacted in the form proposed by the LRC misrepresent the legislative history and cannot stand. (See, e.g., Brief at pp. 21, 23-24, 36, 37, 39-40.)4

Furthermore, the Opinion expressly and correctly rejected the City's argument that when the Legislature enacted section 811.8 in 1963 it did not intend to affect section 905(a) based on principles of statutory construction and legislative history. (Opinion, *supra*, at pp. 8-9, fn. 5.) The court properly held that in construing a statute:

"[W]e presume the Legislature has knowledge of all prior laws and enacts

Plaintiff requested publication of Division Three's Opinion below because it explicitly recognized and corrected the misreading of legislative history underlying that Division's decision in *Pasadena Hotel*, which *Batt* relied upon. (Opinion at pp. 10-11.) Critically, Presiding Justice Klein, a member of the *Pasadena Hotel* panel, joined in the unanimous decision below.

and amends statutes in light of those laws." (*In re Marriage of Cutler* (2000) 79 Cal.App.4th 460, 475.) Further, section 811.8 was enacted pursuant to Senate Bill No. 42 (1963-1964 Reg. Sess.) on the same day former section 703 was renumbered to section 905 pursuant to Senate Bill No. 43 (1963-1964 Reg. Sess.). We thus presume that when the Legislature enacted section 811.8, it was aware of section 905, subdivision (a).

(Opinion at p. 9, fn. 5.) As a consequence, the GCA clearly limits local government authority to enact claims procedures.

This power to regulate *claims filing procedures* was constitutionally delegated by article XI, section 12 to the Legislature in connection with the adoption of the GCA. The state Constitution was amended contemporaneously with the GCA to ensure that the new GCA procedures would apply to charter cities and counties as well as non-charter cities and counties. (Cal. Const., art. XI, § 12, amending Cal. Const. art. XI, § 10 (Nov. 8, 1960).) Therefore, the City's argument that article XI, section 5, the "home rule" provision of the State Constitution, grants cities and counties the power to tax *and* to regulate local tax refunds (Brief at p. 49) lacks any basis. Not surprisingly, the City mentions article XI, section 12 only once, near the very end of its brief (p. 47), and provides no analysis countering that section's fatal impact on its position.

Even if the City had the power to enact an ordinance governing McWilliams's claim, which it does not given article XI, section 12 and the GCA, there is no such applicable ordinance here. The ordinance proffered by the City refers solely to refunds sought by service suppliers and does not even require an administrative claim by them before a lawsuit can be filed – consequently, the section says absolutely nothing about what a taxpayer/service user would actually need to do to comply. The City argues that any procedure not expressly stated is disallowed, but no procedure is specified for service users at all. Carried to its logical conclusion, the City could deny claims filed on blue paper because the code does not expressly allow the filing of claims on blue paper.

Furthermore, even assuming the existence of an applicable ordinance, the GCA would preempt it under traditional preemption principles. (See *Sherwin-Williams Co. v. City of Los Angeles* (1993) 4 Cal.4th 893, 897-98 [16 Cal.Rptr.2d 215, 844 P.2d 534]

(Sherwin-Williams).) The Legislature went to great lengths to ensure that the procedures it enacted in the GCA would eliminate balkanized local claims procedures. As this Court recognized in Ardon, the entire purpose of the GCA was to provide a comprehensive, statewide set of claims procedures. (Ardon, supra, 52 Cal.4th at pp. 246-47.) And, as also recognized by this Court in Volkswagen Pacific, supra, 7 Cal.3d at p. 62, fn. 7 and as the City itself concedes (Respondent's Brief in Court of Appeal ("Resp. Brf.") at pp. 18, 28; Brief at p. 47), the claims procedure of the GCA effectively "occupie[s] the entire field." The addition of article XI, section 12 cements this goal.

Finally, the City's argument with respect to California Constitution, article XIII, section 32 is irrelevant and has no bearing on whether Plaintiff's class claim is proper. This Court has consistently recognized that this provision, by its express terms, only applies to actions against the State. (*Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Assn. v. City of La Habra* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 809, 822, fn. 5 [107 Cal.Rptr.2d 369, 23 P.3d 601] ["Article XIII, section 32 ... [does not] appl[y] to this action against two local governments."]; *Brown v. County of Los Angeles* (1999) 72 Cal.App.4th 665, 670 [85 Cal.Rptr.2d 414] [Section 32 "applies to actions against the State of California, not those involving assessments by local governments."].)

Even if applicable, however, article XIII, section 32 simply requires litigants to "pay first, litigate later," which Plaintiff has done. (Opinion at p. 13.) As in *Ardon*, the "pay first" principle is not a bar here, where the GCA allows class claims and the plaintiff has paid the contested tax before filing his action. (*Ardon*, *supra*, 52 Cal.4th at p. 252.)

The issue in this appeal is whether local municipalities are entitled to *sua sponte* reject the procedure painstakingly established by the Legislature through extensive study, debate, legislation, and a constitutional amendment, with their own contradictory, vague and ambiguous, and often unstated requirements, thereby allowing local municipalities to deny otherwise valid claims on virtually any basis they wish. The uniformity provided by article XI, section 12 of the Constitution and the GCA were expressly intended to put an end to this source of chaos.

#### FACTUAL BACKGROUND AND PROCEEDINGS

This is a class action brought by McWilliams against the City challenging the legality of the City's telephone users tax ("TUT") as applied to certain telephone service. Plaintiff's Complaint alleges that the City has improperly required telephone companies to collect and remit taxes from telephone users on long distance and bundled telephone services where calls are not charged by both elapsed time and distance. (Clerk's Transcript ("CT") 5-6 at ¶ 4; 7 at ¶ 8; 14 at ¶ 53.)

Section 3.68.050, subdivision (A) of the Long Beach Municipal Code ("LBMC") imposes a tax on amounts paid for all telephone services used by every person or entity located within the City. (CT 5, 9, 44; App. A.<sup>5</sup>) However, at the time this action was filed, the TUT expressly excluded from taxation all amounts paid for telephone services "to the extent that the amounts paid for such services are exempt from or not subject to the tax imposed under section 4251 of title 26 of the internal revenue code" (hereinafter, the "FET").<sup>6</sup> (LBMC § 3.68.050, subdivision (D); CT 10 at ¶ 28; 11 at ¶ 36; 47; App. A.) Therefore, telephone services not subject to the tax imposed by the FET were not subject to the TUT. (CT 12-13.)<sup>7</sup>

In numerous cases brought by corporate taxpayers seeking refunds from the IRS of improperly collected FET, the federal courts held that in order to be taxable under the plain language of the FET, charges for long-distance telephone services *must* be based on

Citations to "App." refer to the Appendices to Appellants' Opening Brief, filed with the Court of Appeal on February 1, 2008.

Contrary to the description by the City that its ordinance "makes reference to the FET in defining" its tax base (Brief at p. 5), it expressly incorporates the FET by reference.

The City's contention that it relied upon a 1979 Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") ruling in enacting its tax (Brief at p. 5) is irrelevant to the issues on appeal and introduces factual matters that are not part of the record and should not be considered. (See California Rules of Court, rule 8.204(a)(2)(C).)

both distance and elapsed transmission time. Since most modern telephone service is charged on a "postalized" structure, where charges do not vary by distance, the federal courts concluded that the FET had been improperly applied. As of August 1, 2006, after these numerous adverse court decisions, the IRS ceased collecting the FET on long distance and bundled services and allowed taxpayers to receive a refund simply by checking a box on their federal tax return. (See IRS Notice 2006-50 (CT 25-38).) Nevertheless, even after the IRS conceded and capitulated, the City blatantly continued, until November 2008, to illegally collect the TUT on long distance and bundled services, to which neither the FET nor the TUT applied, and has refused to pay refunds. (CT 5-7.)

On August 11, 2006, Plaintiff sought redress on behalf of himself and all other similarly situated taxpayers by serving a written claim in compliance with the requirements of the GCA on the Long Beach Mayor, City Council, and Director of

See Reese Bros., Inc. v. U.S. (W.D. Pa. Nov. 30, 2004) No. 03-CV-745, 2004 WL 2901579, affd. (3d Cir. 2006) 447 F.3d 229 (App. C); Hewlett-Packard Co. v. U.S. (N.D. Cal. Aug. 5, 2005) No. C-04-03832 RMW, 2005 WL 1865419 (App. D); Fortis, Inc. v. U.S. (S.D.N.Y. 2004) 420 F.Supp.2d 166, affd. (2d Cir. 2006) 447 F.3d 190; America Online, Inc. v. U.S. (Fed.Cl. 2005) 64 Fed.Cl. 571; Honeywell Internat. Inc. v. U.S. (Fed.Cl. 2005) 64 Fed.Cl. 188; National Railroad Passenger Corp. v. U.S. (D.D.C. 2004) 338 F.Supp.2d 22, affd. (D.C. Cir. 2005) 431 F.3d 374; OfficeMax, Inc. v. U.S. (N.D. Ohio 2004) 309 F.Supp.2d 984, affd. (6th Cir. 2005) 428 F.3d 583, rehg. en banc den. (6th Cir. Mar. 30, 2006) No. 04-CV-4009, 2006 U.S. App. Lexis 8294; American Bankers Ins. Group, Inc. v. U.S. (S.D. Fla. 2004) 308 F.Supp.2d 1360, revd. (11th Cir. 2005) 408 F.3d 1328.

The term "postalized" derives from the fact that the charge to mail a letter does not vary by distance.

Contrary to the City's (at best) misleading "statement of facts," it was *the FET itself* that was incorporated into the City's TUT ordinance, not the IRS's *interpretation* of the FET. Plaintiff's allegations do not simply "involve the effect of the changing interpretation of the [FET] on telephony on local agencies' interpretation of their own telephone taxes" or claim that the IRS's "changes in the interpretation of the FET require a reduction in the City's TUT tax base...." (Brief at pp. 4-5). Plaintiff clearly and plainly alleges, rather, that under the City's TUT ordinance and the plain language of the FET, "charges for telephone service that do not vary by time and distance have *never* been taxable." (CT 7 at ¶ 10.)

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